1952

# L. Burt Bigler and Herbert K. Sloane v. Ray P. Greenwood et al : Brief of Involuntary Party Plaintiff

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Apparently there is no dispute between the parties as to questions of fact. The parties do disagree, we believe, as to the relevance and legality of certain ordinances, resolutions, and contracts. Because the record consists only of ordinances, resolutions, protests, and a stipulation, rather than a transcript, and because in the course of the brief, reference will be made to certain of these documents, we are outlining in chronological order the steps followed by the defendants.

On May 18, 1942, the Board of Commissioners of

Salt Lake County (hereinafter designated "Commission") adopted an ordinance regulating and controlling all public or private sewers in the County. (Ex. A) Under the terms of this ordinance, the owner of any improvement within 200 feet of a main or lateral sewer line must connect up with the sewer line or be guilty of misdemeanor. A connection fee of \$150.00 was imposed. Under Section 17 of the ordinance, moneys paid for connection fees or otherwise on said sewer system was to be placed in a general fund and the expenses of maintenance and operation were to be paid by the County out of the general fund.

On May 16, 1951, this ordinance was amended by providing that in lieu of the \$150.00 connection fee, the connection fee of \$100.00 per connection would be charged if applied for by an owner of ten or more residences. (Ex. N)

On September 9, 1946, the Commission adopted a resolution that it enter an order creating the special improvement district and designated the boundaries thereof. (Ex. B) The order was entered on the same date and the district was created under the authority of Title 19 Chapter 6A U.C.A. 1943. (Ex. C)

On January 20, 1947, the Commission accepted an offer to purchase \$2,750,000.00 (or such lesser amount as recommended by the engineer) of revenue bonds of the Board of County Commissioners. (Ex. D) Under the terms of the contract, sufficient number of signed service applications accompanied by deposits of \$50.00 per application would have to be secured, together with a

requirement of an additional connection charge of \$99.00 in cash of \$120.00 in deferred payments as to applications filed prior to letting of the construction contract; thereafter connection charge was to be \$140.00 in cash; the maximum interest cost was not to exceed  $3\frac{1}{4}\%$ ; it was estimated that it would be possible to retire the bonds in about 11 years; the minimum charge was to be \$2.00 per month.

On March 18, 1947, a Resolution (Ex. U) was adopted formally creating the district in order to provide for the installation of a complete system and plant within the boundaries of the district. Section 4 (Pg. 4, Ex. U) of said resolution provides in part as follows:

“\*\*\* It is contemplated that the charges to be made to the users of the system will constitute liens against the property in said district enforceable in the event of a default in the payment of such charges, based either upon the service application agreements to be signed by the owner of said property or otherwise.”

The resolution was, therefore, ordered to be filed for recording to give notice of such lien. Thereafter, an ordinance was adopted making it unlawful to construct, or for the owner or any other person to occupy any property for residential, commercial, or industrial use within 200 feet of any street, etc., in which a public sewer is then in existence and making it further unlawful for any owner not to connect with the public sewer to be built after notice is given that the public sewer is to receive connections. A violator of this ordinance is guilty of misdemeanor punishable with a fine not exceeding \$299.-



00 or by an imprisonment not exceeding 6 months or by both fine and imprisonment. (Pg. 9, Ex. U)

Next on the same date the Commission adopted what might be termed the bond resolution. The title of this resolution reads as follows:

"A resolution providing for the acquisition of a sanitary sewer system and treatment and disposal plant for the use of the inhabitants of the area in Salt Lake County known as 'Salt Lake Suburban Sanitary District': providing for the issuance of the bonds of Salt Lake County payable from the revenue to be derived from the operation of said sewer system: entering into certain agreements and making certain provisions for the security and payment of such bonds: confirming the sale and provide for the delivery of such bonds and entering into collateral agreements and provisions in connection with the foregoing."

The resolution in addition to adopting the provisions required in the agreement with the fiscal agents and purchaser of the bonds provided for the following:

The cost of the portion of the system to be initially constructed, including all incidental expenses, was estimated to be not in excess of \$2,750,000.00 (page 11). The guaranty fund should never exceed 10% of the principal amount. The original bond issue was to be \$1,400,000.00 becoming due \$50,000.00 each year for 28 years. The schedule of rates, initial service charge, and additional payments is set forth on Page 29. The ordinance providing for the discontinuance of privy vaults, septic tanks, and cesspools and for connecting to public sewers, supra, was to be maintained in force by the County. The Com-

mission was to require any owner delinquent for more than six months in the payment of the charges to cease to dispose all waste from his premises, and in order to enforce this provision, the Commission was to give notice to any public or private board supplying water to or selling water to the premise to cease supplying water, and if any public or private corporation did not cease supplying water to the premises the Commission shall be entitled to enter upon such premises and it shall through an agent of employe, shut off the supply water of such premises; the bonds were to be sold to Lauren W. Gibbs at set price as will result in an interest cost not in excess of  $3\frac{1}{4}\%$  per annum.

On April 2, 1947, resolution (Ex. E) was adopted appointing Caldwell, Richards, and Sorenson, as Consulting Engineers, and Koebig and Koebig as Associates on the design and construction of the project.

On May 16, 1947, a resolution was adopted appointing C. Earl Alsop, L. Burt Bigler, and Horace A. Sorenson as members of the Advisory Committee. (Ex. G)

On June 30, 1947, a resolution was adopted (Ex. H) providing that in the event that it is determined that the sewer was not to be constructed under the resolution and ordinance theretofore adopted, and that the project be abandoned, Trustee was to return all payments made by the owners.

On September 29, 1947 the Commission resolved to increase to \$3,250,000.00 the maximum amount of bonds which may be required to be purchased by the Fiscal Agent.

On January 9, 1948, (Ex. J) Commission by resolution accepted and agreed to the proposal of the purchasing, fiscal agent to extend the time for the delivery of the bonds, providing that the interest cost be increased from 3.25% to 3.72%.

On February 16, 1948 (Ex. K) according to the minutes of Commission, the Commission questioned whether it was feasible to proceed with the project.

On April 5, 1948, at a meeting attended by the Board of Commissioners, the County Attorney, Mr. Edward M. Morrissey and his Chief Deputy, Elliot W. Evans, a resolution was submitted by Mr. Evans which was thereafter adopted by the Commission. (Ex. L) The Commission in its preamble stated, "All bids for the construction of said sewer system has been rejected as being excessive and numerous objections to the construction of the proposed sewer system at this time and under the proposed method of finance thereof have been made to and received by the Board of County Commissioners and the Board of County Commissioners deem in (sic) inadvisable under present conditions to proceed with the construction of the sewer system in said Salt Lake County Suburban Sanitary District." and further, "many of said prospective users who have made payment of said initial payments are now requesting and demand the return of said initial payment." Thereupon it duly resolved to abandon the proposed acquisition of sewer system as provided in the resolution of March 18, 1947 and rescinded said resolution. The trustee was authorized and directed to return all initial payments.

Nothing further was done by the Commission in regard to this project for the next four years except to return to the fiscal agent a deposit of \$20,000.00.

On March 7, 1952, a letter dated January 31, 1952 of Robert E. Schweser was accepted by resolution of the Board of County Commissioners. (Ex. O)

Under the terms of this contract, it was recognized that the interest of Lauren W. Gibbs in a previous contract had been sold and assigned to Wacob-Bender Corporation and Robert E. Schweser Company. Instead of an outright sale, the assignees were to act as Fiscal Agent and agreed: "5—For such Revenue Bonds as may be issued to pay for the construction of the complete sewer facilities under the present district and which meet the above requirements, we guarantee to find a buyer at a price interest rate and maturity as approved as to legality by the aforesaid bond attorneys and by the engineer as to feasibility."

On March 10, 1952, (Ex. P), there was a recommendation that the Commission pass a resolution instructing the Engineer to proceed with a study of new construction in the district for the purpose of bringing the original plans up to date. Estimates of construction costs were to be prepared together with final plans and specifications.

On June 30, 1952, First Security Bank of Utah was appointed depository. (Ex. Q)

The minutes of August 25, 1952—(Ex. R) summarize the hearing held on the protest of Harrison Brothers. As is indicated "The financing of the proposed sewer was

discussed." The Chairman stated "all sound suggestions would be considered and incorporated into the plan wherever possible."

On September 12, 1952, (Ex. T), the Commission approved the letter addressed to the Engineer which directed them to proceed at once to advertise for bids for the construction of the County Sewer. The advertising was to start not later than September 19, so that the bids could be opened on October 20, 1952.

On October 6, 1952, (Ex. V) a resolution was passed repealing the resolution adopted on April 5, 1948, rescinding certain proceedings pertaining to Salt Lake Suburban Sanitary District. The resolution reads as follows:

"NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Board of County Commissioners of Salt Lake County, Utah, that said resolution of April 5, 1948 purporting to rescind the proceedings theretofore adopted as set forth in the preamble heretofore is hereby declared to have been adopted by mistake and is hereby expressly repealed, rescinded, and held for naught and said proceedings of March 18, 1947 are hereby approved, ratified, and declared to be now and to before since March 18, 1947 in full force and exact in all respects as though said resolution of April 5, 1948 had never been adopted."

On the same date a resolution (Ex. W) was adopted amending the resolution of March 18, 1947. (Ex. U)

The material amendments will be discussed under the applicable section of our argument.

Thereafter on the same date a further resolution

(Ex. X) was adopted whose title is as follows :

“A resolution providing for the issuance of \$3,850,000 Salt Lake City Suburban Sewer Bonds, Series 1952, payable from the operation of a sanitary sewer system and treatment disposal plant in and adjacent to Salt Lake Suburban Sanitary District; entering into certain agreements and making certain provisions for the security and payment of such bonds and providing for the sale and delivery thereof.”

The material sections of this resolution will also be discussed under the applicable section of our argument.

It is assumed that all further action by the Commission has been stayed since the entry of this Court's order on October 8, 1952.

### STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT 1. THERE IS NO STATUTORY AUTHORITY FOR THE COMMISSION'S ACTS.

POINT 2. THE STATUTES AND DEFENDANTS' PROCEEDINGS ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

POINT 3. THE COMMISSION'S ACTS ARE ILLEGAL, ARBITRARY, AND CAPRICIOUS.

POINT 4. THE RESOLUTIONS ADOPTED OCTOBER 6, 1952 ARE ILLEGAL, VOID, AND BEYOND THE POWER OF THE COMMISSION.

### ARGUMENT

POINT 1. THERE IS NO STATUTORY AUTHORITY FOR THE ACTS OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS.

The proposed project and the proposed financing are not within the express limitations contained in Title

19, Chapter 6a, Section 8, Utah Code Annotated, 1943.

The literal or grammatical meaning of the language employed by the Legislature in Section 8 of Chapter 6a of Title 19, U.C.A., 1943, leaves little room for speculation or debate concerning the legislative intent. In the preceding sections of Chapter 6a, *supra*, the Legislature has described the projects and special improvement districts that boards of county commissioners may create and operate and it has prescribed the methods by which the cost of such projects or special improvements may be provided. The methods of financing in such preceding sections are expressly limited to (i) the levying of assessments against the property benefited, or (ii) the imposing of fees, tolls, rents or other charges for the use of the improvements, or (iii) both. No general authority is conferred upon such boards to enter into any contracts to provide funds with which to finance such projects or special improvements or to pledge or hypothecate revenues in connection therewith. Then comes Section 8 which does confer a special or limited authority to borrow funds, to enter into contracts, to issue securities, and to pledge or hypothecate revenues as security for repayment of borrowed funds. This authority is expressly limited to matters "in connection" with the financing of such of said projects and special improvements (those previously described in Chapter 6a) "as may be appropriate and possible under the laws of the United States relating thereto." The phrase "laws of the United States" has only one meaning and that is "Acts of Congress." See cases cited in Words and Phrases, Perman-

ent Edition, Volume 24, pages 440-441, and in 1952 pocket supplement thereto, page 142. There can be no question that the power conferred under Section 8, *supra*, is limited by the plain language of the statute to the financing of such projects as may be appropriate and possible under Acts of the Congress of the United States. It is only "*in connection*" with such projects that the Board of County Commissioners of any county is authorized to enter into contracts with the Reconstruction Finance Corporation of the United States or with any other private or public agency, person, corporation or individual, for the purpose of providing funds with which to finance a proposed project or special improvement. It is only "*in connection*" with the financing of such projects and special improvements as may be appropriate and possible under Acts of the Congress of the United States that the Board of County Commissioners of any county is authorized to issue securities and pledge or hypothecate revenues for the payment of the principal and interest thereof.

The question immediately arises, of course, whether a literal construction of the language employed by the Legislature in Section 8 is a reasonable construction, that is, whether such literal construction is in harmony with the general purposes of the statute, and whether there were in existence at the time of its enactment any "laws of the United States," (Acts of Congress), relating to projects and special improvements of the type generally authorized by the chapter and which might require the borrowing of funds and the pledging or hypothecation



of revenues. It is submitted that there was in existence at least one Act of Congress, enacted, during the administration of President Hoover, which related to the financing of projects and special improvements of the type contemplated by Section 8, *supra*. That was the "Reconstruction Finance Corporation Act and Emergency Relief and Construction Act of 1932," Title 15, U.S. Code, Chapter 14, Section 605(b), popularly referred to as the "Emergency Relief and Construction Act of 1932." (Note July 21, 1932, C. 520, Section 201, 47 Stat. 711 et seq.) Section 605(b), *supra*, provided in part as follows:

"Section 605(b). Same; additional loans authorized - (a) Self-liquidating projects; convict labor

"The Reconstruction Finance Corporation is authorized and empowered.

"(1) To make loans to, or contracts with, States, municipalities, and political subdivisions of states, public agencies of States, of municipalities, and of partial subdivisions of States, public corporations, boards and commissions, and public municipal instrumentalities of one or more States, to aid in financing projects authorized under Federal, State or municipal law which are self-liquidating in character, such loans or contracts to be made through the purchase of their securities, or otherwise, and for such purpose the Reconstruction Finance Corporation is authorized to bid for such securities.

\* \* \*

"(6) \* \* \*

"For the purposes of this subsection a project shall be deemed to be self-liquidating if such

project will be made self-supporting and financially solvent and if the construction cost thereof will be returned within a reasonable period by means of tolls, fees, rents or other charges, or by such other means (other than by taxation) as may be prescribed by the statutes which provide for the project, \* \* \*

The foregoing provisions were construed in the case of Public Market Company of Portland v. City of Portland (1942), 130 P. 2nd 624, 171 Or. 522, amplified on rehearing, 138 P. 2nd 916, 171 Or. 522. The Oregon Court, in the latter opinion, commented as follows:

"The Emergency Relief and Construction Act of 1932 granted to it (the RFC) power to make loans only to aid in financing projects, such as a municipal market, 'which are self-liquidating in character,' 15 U.S.C.A. 605b (a) (3). By paragraph number (6) of that section the project 'shall be deemed to be self-liquidating if such project will be made self-supporting and financially solvent and if the construction cost thereof will be returned within a reasonable period by means of tolls, fees, rents, or other charges, or by such other means (other than by taxation) as may be prescribed by the statutes which provide for the project \* \* \*'. Although the statute does not preclude the corporation from taking the additional security of a general municipal obligation, if the project is otherwise eligible as a self-liquidating one (see Circular No. 3 of the RFC, Information for Prospective Applicants for Loans for 'Self-Liquidating' Projects under the Emergency Relief and Construction Act of 1932, February, 1933), still it is obvious that the purpose of the act was to relieve unemployment by financing self-liquidating projects during a period of de-

pression when, as we judicially know, municipal corporations and other public bodies were hard put to find tax moneys sufficient to meet even the ordinary expenses of government."

Section 605 (b), *supra*, was repeated by Act June 30, 1947, C. 166, Title II 206 (a) (c), 61 Stat. 208.

A mere reading of Section 8 of Chapter 6a, *supra*, with its reference to the Reconstruction Finance Corporation, to "self-liquidating projects," etc., together with Section 605(b) of the Emergency Relief and Construction Act of 1932, *supra*, can lead to no other conclusion than that the Utah Legislature intended by Section 8 to enable boards of county commissioners to take advantage of the opportunity to obtain loan funds from the Reconstruction Finance Corporation or similar Federal lending and that the powers conferred were carefully limited to those necessary for the accomplishment of that purpose and that purpose alone.

If anything further is required to convince the Court that Section 8 of Chapter 6a, *supra*, was intended by the Legislature to apply only to such projects and special improvements as might be financed under laws of the United States relating thereto, a review of the legislative history of the enactment of Chapter 6a, *supra*, and particularly of Section 8 thereof, as revealed by House Journal, Special and 20th Sessions of the Legislature of the State of Utah, 1933, should suffice. The measure was introduced in the Utah Legislature on February 13, 1933, as House Bill 101. As originally introduced, House Bill 101 did not contain the provisions which appear in

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