1952

L. Burt Bigler and Herbert K. Sloane v. Ray P. Greenwood et al : Brief of Defendants

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

We will treat the points raised substantially in the order that they are developed in the brief of the petitioners.

POINT I. THERE IS STATUTORY AUTHORITY FOR THE ACTIONS OF THE SALT LAKE COUNTY COMMISSION IN CONNECTION WITH THE ESTABLISHMENT OF THE SALT LAKE CITY SUBURBAN SANITARY DISTRICT.

- (a) Regardless of what construction is placed on Chapter 6(a) Title 19, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, the validation act of 1947 confirms the Commission's power to issue revenue bonds.

Before joining issue with the petitioners on their specific discussion of Chapter 6(a), we desire to direct the court's attention to Chapter 23(b), Laws of Utah, 1947. By this chapter the legislature expressly recognized and confirmed the power of the County Commission to issue revenue bonds under Chapter 6(a), Title 19, Utah Code Anno. 1943. Thus, while defendants are confident that they did not exceed the authority of the statute under which they proceeded in providing for issuance of revenue bonds, they need not rely on that authority. Chapter 23(b), Laws of Utah, 1947, is all the statutory authority required for their actions prior to May 13, 1947. It expressly validated all proceedings, including the creation of the district.

The validating act expressly said that the action of any County purporting to create a sewer district and providing for the issuance of revenue bonds under Chapter 6(a) for the acquisition of sewer facilities, "are hereby validated, ratified and confirmed." The validation, ratification and confirmation was to take effect "despite any irregularities which may have occurred and despite any failure to observe any pertinent statutory requirement as to the filing of petitions, or otherwise." It further said that the Commission was authorized to proceed with the issuance of bonds thereunder, etc.

This statute clearly validates every procedure taken by any board of county commissioners purporting to act under the authority of Chapter 6(a). The validation act is more than a legislative opinion that procedures under consideration were within a previous grant of power; *it is in itself a retroactive grant of power if any is needed.* A validation act supplies the authority for the procedures validated, even if such authority had previously been totally absent. The only limitations on the curative power of the Legislature are constitutional limitations which did not here exist.

Plaintiff does not deny the complete curative effect of a validation act and the cases in great number support us in this regard. The general rule is stated in "McQuillan, Third Edition," Section 4.15 as follows:

"The general rule is that a legislature may validate an action of a municipal corporation if the legislature had power to authorize it in the first instance. It may cure the failure to comply with

statutory requirements which might have originally been dispensed with in the proceedings of municipal corporations.”

The rule has been expressly affirmed in Utah. See *Daggett v. Lynch*, 18 Utah 45, 54 P. 1095. In that case, Daggett County created indebtedness under certain warrants which were void because in excess of the County's statutory debt limit. The legislature possessed the power at that time to raise the debt limit of a County. After the warrants were issued, the legislature validated the warrants. The court held that the validating act authorizing the issuance of warrants was effective to render the warrants valid, even though at the time the warrants were issued they were void, because in excess of the debt limit of the county. In so holding, the court said:

“The legislature possessed the power, when the warrant was issued, to raise the debt limit, and the warrant having been issued in excess of that limit, the legislature might validate it. An act of a county void for want of authority may be validated by the legislature if it had the power before the void act was done to authorize it.”

In June of this year the Tennessee Supreme Court considered a curative act, subject to every attack now being made against Chapter 23(b), Laws of Utah, 1947, and more. The county had levied an ad valorem tax for general county purposes in excess of the maximum allowed by general law. The legislature then validated the excess, and stated the purposes for which the excess must be used. The court held the validating act constitutional.

It was also held that the act did not violate a provision prohibiting the suspension of general law for particular individuals. The court thus upheld, even in an ad valorem tax case, the propriety of retroactive ratification of an entirely ultra vires levy. See *Cinn. N. O. & T. O. R.R. v. Rea Company*, 250 S.W. (2d) 60.

See also, *in re Christensen's Estate*, (Utah), 54 P. 1095, *Hodges v. Snyder*, 261 U.S. 600, 61 L. Ed. 819, and the numerous authorities cited in "McQuillan, Third Edition," Section 4.15 in support of this rule.

It is, therefore, respectfully submitted that even if Chapter 6(a), as enacted in 1933, did not grant to the counties any power to borrow money and pledge revenues and issue bonds, the validation act of 1947 had the legal effect of a retroactive grant of power to the County Commission. The legislature clearly had the power to provide for revenue bonds, etc., in the first instance, (*Tygesson v. Magna Water District*, Utah, 226 P. 2d 157). The validation act leaves the creation of the district and the proceedings and the powers of the County Commission to borrow money and issue bonds unchallengeable. This is a complete answer to Point I of petitioners' brief, including the argument on implied repeal.

We believe that even without this legislative ratification, Chapter 6(a) gave adequate power to the Commission. We, accordingly, in the sections to follow, join issue with the petitioners' construction of the statutes. We do so, however, with the assertion that this issue in-

sofar as it relates to actions prior to May 13, 1947, is moot, because the validation act is itself an adequate grant of power.

(b) Chapter 6(a) Title 19 confers all of the necessary powers.

As said by our court in *Washington County v. Tax Commission*, 103 Utah 73, 133 P. 2d 564:

“ ‘But a statute is passed as a whole, not in parts or sections and is animated by one general purpose and intent. Consequently, each part or section should be construed in connection with every part or section so as to produce a harmonious whole’. Lewis Sutherland Statutory Construction, Second Edition, Volume 2, page 706.”

Article VI Section 23 of the Constitution provides that the subject of a statute “shall be clearly expressed in its title.” The purpose may be expressed in general terms and the purpose thus expressed is the “subject” of the act. *In re Monk*, 16 Utah 100, 50 P. 810. The title is thus important in determining the purpose of the act. The title as the act was originally introduced on February 13, 1933, House Journal page 365, provided as follows:

“An act authorizing boards of county commissioners to create flood control districts . . . and to create special improvement, water supply, sewer or sanitary district . . . and to provide for the cost of the acquisition and installation of such improvements . . . to be paid from assessments levied against the property within said district, benefited by such improvement or by fees, tolls,

rents, or other charges for the use of such improvements, or both.”

At the time the bill was thus entitled, it did not contain what is now Section 8 at all. Thereafter Section 8 was added and the title to the bill was amended by adding at the end thereof the following:

“And authorizing boards of county commissioners to borrow from the Reconstruction Finance Corporation or other agency where appropriate, according to law, the necessary funds and to secure and repay the same.”

This title did not restrict borrowing to federal projects. It expressly says that the act authorizes the district to borrow from the R.F.C. or other agencies.

Since, as petitioners point out, Section 8 of the Chapter did not appear at all in the bill as originally introduced, their construction would ascribe to the architects of the original bill a complete lack of legislative conception and a total lack of legislative purpose. If the only grant of power to borrow money were in Section 8, then the original bill, which lacked Section 8, in effect had no practical purpose. Districts when created have no current funds and it is nonsensical to assume a plan where laborers and materialmen wait for payment until a system is completed and tolls return the costs. Nor is it sensible to assume that special assessments could be payable by everyone on an expensive sewer project in one payment at the beginning of construction. To “provide” for a sewer, financing over a period of time was and is essential. The act must be given a sensible construction which will ac-

comply with the purposes sought by the statute. *Tax Comm. vs. Logan*, 88 Ut. 406, 54 Fed. 1197.

We submit that before Section 8 was added, a grant of power adequate to the purposes of the act certainly was intended by the framers. When Section 8 was added, it was not intended to negate the powers previously conferred. It was rather to supplement than to supersede the powers already granted. Neither the title of the bill nor the express wording of Section 8 would require a construction which would limit the borrowing of money to federal projects. Even if Section 8 were to be so construed, Section 1 of the act was itself broad enough to permit it.

Section 8 expressly authorizes the borrowing from either public or private agencies, persons, corporations, or individuals. The construction placed upon this language by petitioners is far-fetched indeed. The section starts out by referring to county commissions "creating special improvements as hereinabove described." The "hereinabove described" can only refer to Section 1. Section 8 then goes on to say that such county commissions are authorized to create and operate such projects and improvements as may be appropriate and possible under the laws of the United States. The language contemplates the creation and operation of projects as authorized "hereinabove" under Section 1, and projects operated under appropriate laws of the United States. It then goes on "and in connection therewith" the County may enter into contracts with the United States or other private or public agency, person, corporation or indi-

vidual for borrowing money, issuing bonds, etc. This language clearly refers to both types of project. That is, those created "as hereinabove described" and projects created under appropriate laws of the United States. It does not matter what motivated the legislature to adopt Section 8, so long as the language which it adopted expressly permits borrowing from private agencies. The section as adopted expressly permitted borrowing from private sources. The amendment to the title of the act which was made when Section 8 was added declares its purpose to be to permit boards to borrow money from the R.F.C., or other agencies. If the language of Section 8 is to be construed as narrowly as petitioners request, there would be a serious doubt as to whether the description of the purpose contained in the title was not defeated by Section 8 as so construed. The title clearly says that its purpose is to permit the borrowing of money from the R.F.C. or other agency. Section 8 says that county commissions creating projects as "hereinabove described" (Section 1) may also create projects under appropriate laws of the United States, and in connection "therewith" (referring to both types of projects) the commission may borrow money from public or private sources. Such a construction meets with common sense and is in harmony with the purpose expressed in the title. It permits county commissions to carry into effect the objectives of the act, while the construction urged by the petitioners would render the act useless.

In view of the grants of power in Section 1 and the supplemental express grant of power in Section 8, there

can be little doubt that the County Commission had the power to borrow money. The granting of express power to enter into contracts with the United States is not new to Utah legislative procedure. Almost all of the water bills adopted by our Utah Legislature have so provided. (See, for example, the Utah Water and Power Board Act, Laws of Utah, 1947, Ch. 141, Section 4, Subdivision 8; the Water Conservancy Act, Section 100-11-14(e); the Local Improvement District Acts, Laws of Utah, 1951, Chapter 32, Section 11.)

But even if we were wrong as to the construction of both Sections 1 and 8, nevertheless, the legislative validation in 1947 was itself an express and direct grant of power to borrow from a private agency, to issue bonds and pledge revenues for repayment.

- (c) The Practical Construction given Chapter 6(a), Title 19, Utah Code Anno. 1943, by the County Commission is reasonable, and even if another were possible is entitled to judicial respect.

The Board of County Commissioners has construed Chapter 6(a) as a grant of power to finance a sewer project with private agencies by a revenue bond issue. The reasonableness of that construction, we believe, we have already made clear. The board's construction in 1947 and again in 1952 being reasonable, is entitled to judicial respect. See *Utah Power & Light Company v. Public Service Commission*, 107 Utah 155, 152 P. 2d. 542, where the court said at page 187:

“Consistent administrative interpretation over the years by the officers charged with the duty of

applying the statute and making each part work efficiently and smoothly are entitled to great weight by the courts."

See also Section 78, 42 Am. Jr. 392 in note 20, with some fifty cases supporting the statement that: "The practical interpretation of an ambiguous or uncertain statute by the executive department charged with its administration or enforcement is entitled to the highest respect from the courts."

- (d) When a Legislature readopts a Statute without change after notorious construction by officers charged with administering it, the presumption is that the Legislature knew of the construction and adopted it.

Closely related to the principle discussed under subdivision (c) hereof is the principle of law that when the legislature "readopts a statutory act without change after uniform and notorious construction by officers required to administer it, the presumption is that the legislature knew of such construction and adopted it in re-enacting the statute." *Utah Power & Light Company v. Public service Commission*, supra. We do not here have a legislative readoption of the statute, but there is through the validation act an express recognition by the legislature of the construction placed upon this statute by the County Commission. The statute recognizes expressly that county commissions had construed this statute to permit them to borrow money on revenue bond issues from private sources. Knowing that the county commissions had so construed it, the legislature ratified

this construction. We believe that this legislative recognition of the prior construction by the county commission is entitled to weight by the court in construing the statute, although we recognize that the principle of re-adoption of a statute is probably not directly involved as such.

POINT II. CHAPTER 6(a) TITLE 19 HAS NEVER BEEN REPEALED BY IMPLICATION OR OTHERWISE.

Repeals by implication will not be upheld from the single fact that acts passed at different times deal with the same subject matter, in whole or in part. The focal point of the inquiry is the intent of the legislature in the enactment of the alleged repealing act. (See 50 Am. Jur. 541, section 535) In determining that intent, there are a number of principles universally accepted, which are most helpful.

The paramount principle is that repeals by implication are not favored. This is a maxim announced by every court in the land. Early statements by the Utah Court are found in *University of Utah v. Richards*, 20 Utah 457, and *Neldon v. Clark*, 20 Utah 382. Even in the rare instances when the court has declared an implied repeal, it has expressed its deep antipathy toward such declarations. In *Western Beverage v. Hansen*, 96 P. 2d. 1105 (Utah 1939), the court said:

“Differences of time will be disregarded in construing a code if, by disregarding them and looking at the work as a whole, harmony can thereby

be produced, but if this proves impossible, and if, *after exhausting every scheme of reconciliation, there still remains a palpable and irrespressible conflict*, the Supreme Court is compelled in the absence of anything else indicative of legislative will, to determine the legislative will by adopting the latest declaration of the legislature.”

As noted in the quotation above set forth, there must be an “irrepressible” and “palpable” conflict. The mere fact that two acts co-exist on the same subject matter has never been held to be enough unless this irrepressible conflict exists. Not one single instance of conflict is pointed out by the petitioners and in fact none exists.

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